

ACN 145 105 148

Incorporating

APPENDIX 4D ASX HALF-YEAR INFORMATION 30 June 2017

LODGED WITH THE ASX UNDER LISTING RULE 4.2A

Table of Contents	Page
CORPORATE DIRECTORY	1
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS	3
DIRECTORS' REPORT	4
AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION	6
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REVIEW REPORT	7
DECLARATION BY DIRECTORS	9
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND	
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME	10
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION	11
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY	12
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS	13
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	14
SUPPLEMENTARY APPENDIX 4D INFORMATION	27

This interim financial report does not include all the notes of the type normally included in an annual financial report. Accordingly, this report is to be read in conjunction with the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2016 and any public announcements made by Frontier Capital Group Limited during the interim reporting period in accordance with the continuous disclosure requirements of the *Corporations Act 2001.*

Corporate Directory

Frontier Capital Group Limited

ACN 145 105 148 ABN 88 145 105 148

Registered and Corporate Office

Level 2 Hudson House 131 Macquarie Street Sydney NSW 2000 Telephone: +61 2 9251 7177 Fax: +61 2 9251 7500 Website: www.fcgl.com.au

Auditors

K.S. Black & Co Level 1 251 Elizabeth Street Sydney NSW 2000 Telephone: +61 2 8839 3000

Lawyers

Piper Alderman Level 23, Governor Macquarie Tower 1 Farrer Place Sydney NSW 2000 Telephone: +61 2 9253 9999

Bankers

Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Limited Level 16, 20 Martin Place Sydney NSW 2000 Telephone: +61 2 9227 1818

St George Bank Limited Level 14, 182 George St Sydney NSW 2200 Telephone: +61 2 9236 2230

Directors

Henri Ho (Executive Chairman) Leung Foo Meng Law Hun Seang Bernard Say Kuan How Matthew Chin

Company Secretary

Henry Kinstlinger

Share Registry

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited GPO Box 2975 Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia Telephone: 1300 850 505

ASX Code – FCG

Frontier Capital Group Limited shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.

This financial report covers the Consolidated Entity consisting of Frontier Capital Group Limited and its controlled entities.

Frontier Capital Group Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

HALF-YEAR ENDED 30 June 2017

RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET

				\$'000
Revenue from ordinary activities	Down	88.3%	to	1,585
Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities after tax	Down	246.7%	to	1,059
Net Profit/(loss) for the period attributable to members	Down	112.1%	to	1,059

Dividends/distributions	Amount per security	Franked amount per security
Final dividend	\$Nil	N/A
Interim dividend	\$Nil	N/A

No dividends or distributions were declared or paid during the reporting period.

The increase in the net loss from the previous corresponding period takes into account the changes in the gaming casino business in Philippines.

Review of Operations

In February 2016, Frontier Capital Group Limited ("**FCG**") or "**the Company**") acquired the Stotsenberg Leisure Park and Hotel Corporation the operator of the Hotel Stotsenberg and Casablanca Casino, located at Clark 80 kilometres northwest of Manilla in the Philippines.

Corporate

In late November 2016 Ken Wong Hong resigned as a director and chief operations officer of the Company.

In February 2017, the Company announced to the Australian Securities Exchange (**ASX**) that it sought a voluntary suspension of its securities as a result of the Company's Casablanca Casino had its casino operating licence suspended by the Philippine Amusement and Gaming Corporation (**PAGCOR**). The suspension was caused by a delay in settling an escrow account as required by PAGCOR, the government authority that oversees and regulates privately owned casinos. The operations of the Stotsenberg Hotel (239 rooms) have continued uninterrupted. The escrow account provides security that the casino remains committed to further developments of the casino and compliance of all regulations as determined by PAGCOR. The escrow account was originally covered by a bank guarantee which lapsed. The Company was to replace and secure the escrow with a cash deposit. The Company further announced to the ASX that the service agreement with E!xcite Gaming and Entertainment Inc was terminated by mutual consent due to the closure of the casino.

On 22 August 2017 the Company's securities were suspended from official quotation on the ASX.

On 29 December 2017 at the Company's 2016 Annual General meeting all resolutions were passed on a show of hands.

On 17 January 2018 Ram Navaratnam and William Wilkinson resigned as directors of the Company.

On 11 March 2019, the Company received A\$1,336,310, representing the return of the balance of the deposit paid for the acquisition of the Mongolian National Lottery.

The Agreement to acquire the Mongolian National Lottery is now terminated.

During and subsequent to the reporting period, the Company has actively worked towards securing the reopening of the Casablanca Casino owned by its subsidiary, Stotsenberg Leisure Park and Hotel Corporation, in Clark, Philippines. On 5 October 2018, the Philippines Amusement and Gaming Corporation (PAGCOR) approved the recommencement of operations for Casablanca Casino, subject to general conditions and the deposit for the PAGCOR Escrow Account.

On 1 November 2018 the Company has secured a US\$10,000,000 (American Dollars Ten Million) unsecured loan, with no fixed term and a coupon rate of 15% per annum, - to meet the requirements of PAGCOR for the Escrow Account, Performance Assurance and Surety Bonds to enable recommencement of the casino operations. The loan is not from a party, associated or related to the Company.

The Company is now in full compliance and is preparing the Casablanca Casino for reopening. The Stotsenberg Leisure Park Hotel has been operating throughout the period.

Directors' Report

Your directors present their report together with the financial statements of the parent entity and the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the **Group**) consisting of Frontier Capital Group Limited (**Company**) and the entities it controlled at the end of or during the period ended 30 June 2017 and the Auditor's Review Report thereon.

Principal activities	The principal activities of the Group during the course of the period were hospitality in the Philippines and 3D Visual communication and multimedia support for property developers operating in Malaysia.
Consolidated results	The net consolidated profit of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2017 was \$1.05 million (2016: Loss \$8.68 million).
	Total Shareholders' Funds as at 30 June 2017 are \$5.05 million.
	Additional information on the operations of the Group is disclosed in the Review of Operations section of this report.
Review of operations	Information on the operations and financial position of the Group and its business strategies and prospects are set out in the Review of Operations on pages 3 of this report.
Dividends	The Directors of the Company do not recommend that any amount be paid by way of dividend. The Company has not paid or declared any amount by way of dividend since the commencement of the financial year.

Directors

The following persons were directors of the Company during the whole of the period and up to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated:

Henri Ho	Executive Chairman	
Dato Helen Li Zhang	Non-Executive Director	Retired 1 March 2019
Leung Foo Meng	Non-Executive Director	
Law Hun Seang	Non-Executive Director	
Ram Navaratnam	Non-Executive Director	Retired 17 January 2018
William Wilkinson	Non-Executive Director	Retired 17 January 2018
Bernard Say Kuan How	Managing Director	Appointed 15 February 2019
Matthew Chin	Non-Executive Director	Appointed 15 February 2019

Directors' Report cont'd

Subsequent Events

On 11 March 2019, the Company received A\$1,336,310, representing the return of the balance of the deposit paid for the acquisition of the Mongolian National Lottery.

The Agreement to acquire the Mongolian National Lottery is now terminated.

During and subsequent to the reporting period, the Company has actively worked towards securing the reopening of the Casablanca Casino owned by its subsidiary, Stotsenberg Leisure Park and Hotel Corporation, in Clark, Philippines. On 5 October 2018, the Philippines Amusement and Gaming Corporation (PAGCOR) approved the recommencement of operations for Casablanca Casino, subject to general conditions and the deposit of funds a (PAGCOR) Escrow Account.

On 1 November 2018 the Company has secured a US\$10,000,000 (American Dollars Ten Million) unsecured loan, with no fixed term and a coupon rate of 15% per annum, - to meet the requirements of PAGCOR for the Escrow Account, Performance Assurance and Surety Bonds to enable recommencement of the casino operations. The loan is not from a party, associated or related to the Company.

The Company is now in full compliance and is preparing the Casablanca Casino for reopening. The Stotsenberg Leisure Park Hotel has been operating throughout the period.

At the date of this report there are no other matters or circumstances, which have arisen since 30 June 2017 that have significantly affected or may significantly affect:

- the operations, in financial half-year subsequent to 30 June 2017, of the Group;
- the results of those operations; or
- the state of affairs, in financial half-year subsequent to 30 June 2017, of the Group.

Auditor's Independence Declaration

A copy of the independence declaration by the auditor K.S. Black & Co under section 307C is included on page 6 of this half year financial report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Henri Ho Director

08 March 2019

Leung Foo Meng Director

Auditor's Independence Declaration

Level 1 251 Elizabeth Street SYDNEY NSW 2000

75 Lyons Road DRUMMOYNE NSW 2047



20 Grose Street NORTH PARRAMATTA NSW 2151

ABN 48 117 620 556

PO Box 2210 NORTH PARRAMATTA NSW 1750

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF FRONTIER CAPITAL GROUP LIMITED

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the half year ended 30 June 2017 there has been:

- a. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the *Corporations Act* 2001 in relation to the audit; and
- b. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

The group is in respect of Frontier Capital Group Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

KS Black & Co Chartered Accountants

Scott Bennison Partner

Dated in Sydney on this & H day of March 2019

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation Phone 02 8839 3000 Fax 02 8839 3055 www.ksblack.com.au



Independent Auditor's Review Report

Level 1 251 Elizabeth Street SYDNEY NSW 2000

75 Lyons Road DRUMMOYNE NSW 2047



20 Grose Street NORTH PARRAMATTA NSW 2151

PO Box 2210 NORTH PARRAMATTA NSW 1750

Independent AUDITOR'S REVIEW REPORT

To the Members of Frontier Capital Group Limited

Report on the Half-Year Financial Report

We have reviewed the accompanying half-year financial report of Frontier Capital Group Limited, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the half-year ended on that date, notes comprising a statement of accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors' declaration of the Group comprising the companies at the half-year's end or from time to time during the half-year.

Directors' responsibility for the financial report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the half-year financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations *Act 2001* and for such internal controls as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of the half-year financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from maternal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the half-year financial report based on our review. We conducted our review in accordance with Auditing Standard on *Review Engagements ASRE 2410 Review of a Financial Performed by Independent Auditor of the Entity*, in order to state whether, on the basis of the procedures described, we have become aware of any matter that makes us believe that the half-year financial report is not in accordance with the *Corporation Act 2001* Including: giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2017 and its performance for the half-year ended on that date; and complying with Accounting Standard AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and the Corporations Regulations 2001. As the auditor of Frontier Capital Group Limited, ASRE 2410 required that we comply with the ethical requirements relevant to the audit of the annual financial report.

A review of a half-year financial report consists of making enquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is subsequently less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurances that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation Phone 02 8839 3000 Fax 02 8839 3055 www.ksblack.com.au



20 Grose Street

Independent Auditor's Review Report cont'd

Level 1 251 Elizabeth Street SYDNEY NSW 2000

75 Lyons Road DRUMMOYNE NSW 2047

Independence

In conducting our review, we have complied with the independence requirements of the *Corporations* Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the *Corporations Act* 2001, which has been given to the directors of Frontier Capital Group Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor's report.

Conclusion

Based on our review, which is not an audit, we have not become aware of any matter that makes us believe that the half-year financial report of Frontier Capital Group Limited is not in accordance with the *Corporations Act 2001* including:

- a) giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of its performance for the financial half-year ended on that date; and
- b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and Corporations Regulations 2001

KS Black & Co Chartered Accountants

Scott Bennison Partner

Dated: 8/3/19

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation Phone 02 8839 3000 Fax 02 8839 3055 www.ksblack.com.au



ABN 48 117 620 5

K.S. Black & Co.

NORTH PARRAMATTA NSW 2151 PO Box 2210

NORTH PARRAMATTA NSW 1750

Declaration by Directors

The Directors of the Company declare that:

- 1. The financial statements and notes, set out on pages 10 to 26, are in accordance with the *Corporations Act 2001*, and:
 - i give a true and fair view of the financial position of the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2017 and of its performance for the half-year ended on that date; and
 - ii comply with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 134 Interim Financial Reporting and the *Corporations Regulations 2001*.
- 2. In the Directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

JW/W

Henri Ho Director

08 March 2019

Leung Foo Meng Director

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive

Income

for the Half-Year Ended 30 June 2017

	Consolidated Group		
	Notes	Half-year ended	Half-year ended
		Jun 2017	Jun 2016
		\$'000	\$'000
Revenue	3	1,585	13,580
Other income	3	1,357	182
Cost of providing services and administration expenses	3	(1,881)	(12,372)
Finance expenses		(2)	(1,939)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE		1,059	(549)
Income tax expense		-	(172)
NET PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD		1,059	(721)
Other Comprehensive Income Other comprehensive income before income tax			
Acquisition goodwill impairment		-	(7,965)
Income tax expense		-	-
		-	(7,965)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests		1,059 -	(8,686)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME /(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS OF PARENT ENTITY		1,059	(8,686)
EARNINGS / (LOSS) PER SHARE		Cents	Cents
Basic earnings/(losses) per share (cents per share)		0.38	(3.55)
Diluted earnings/(losses) per share (cents per share)		0.32	(2.86)

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

as at 30 June 2017

		Consolid	lated
	Notes	Jun 2017	Dec 2016
ASSETS		\$'000	\$'000
Current assets			
Cash and cash equivalents	4	868	2,161
Trade and other receivables	5	1,916	65
Other current assets	_	577	612
Total current assets		3,361	2,838
Non-current assets			
Trade and other receivables	5	334	342
Financial assets		-	-
Building, furniture and equipment	6	12,250	12,096
Intangible Assets		-	-
Total non-current assets		12,584	12,438
Total Assets	_	15,945	15,276
LIABILITIES			
Current liabilities			
Trade and other payables	7	6,550	6,585
Financial Liabilities		23	16
Provision		25	77
Total current liabilities		6,598	6,678
Non-current liabilities			
Trade and other payable	7	3,884	3,926
Financial Liabilities		-	14
Employee benefits provision and other provisions		404	413
Total non-current liabilities		4,288	4,353
Total Liabilities		10,886	11,031
Net Assets	_	5,059	4,245
	_		
EQUITY			
Issued capital	8	59,870	59,870
Reserves		1,361	1,606
Accumulated losses		(56,172)	(57,231)
Total Equity		5,059	4,245
	=		

The above Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the Half-Year Ended 30 June 2017

Consolidated Group	Notes	Issued Capital	Options Reserve	Reserves	Accumulated Losses	Total Equity
		\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
Balance at 31 December 2015		16,494	2,425	(40)	(5,946)	12,933
Share issued		44,804	-	-	-	44,804
Shares issuing cost		(1,428)	-	-	-	(1,428)
Movement during the period		-	-	168	-	168
Loss for the period	_	-	-	-	(8,686)	(8,686)
Balance at 30 June 2016		59,870	2,425	128	(14,632)	47,791
	_					
Balance at 30 June 2016		59,870	2,425	128	(14,632)	47,791
Shares Issued during the period		-	-	-	-	-
Movement during the period		-	-	(947)	-	(947)
Loss for the period	_	-	-	-	(42,599)	(42,599)
Balance at 31 December 2016	8	59,870	2,425	(819)	(57,231)	4,245
Balance at 31 December 2016		59,870	2,425	(819)	(57,231)	4,245
Share issued		-	-	-	-	-
Movement during the period		-	-	(245)	-	(245)
Profit for the period	_	-	-	-	1,059	1,059
Balance at 30 June 2017	8	59,870	2,425	(1,064)	(56,172)	5,059

The above Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

for the Half-Year Ended 30 June 2017

		Consolidat	ted Group
	Notes	Half-year ended	Half-year ended
		Jun 2017	Jun 2016
		\$'000	\$'000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES			
Receipt from customers		1,066	13,750
Interest received		-	32
Interest paid		-	(13)
Payments for administration expenses		(1,958)	(11,817)
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN) / PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES		(892)	1,952
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES Payment for investment		_	_
Payments for property, plant and equipment		(401)	(793)
Investment deposit refund			150
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN) / PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES		(401)	(643)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES			
Proceeds from share issues/placements, net of costs		-	(2)
Repayment to other parties		-	(883)
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/ PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES		-	(885)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		(1,293)	424
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period		2,161	1,493
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD	4	868	1,917

This Statement of Cash Flow is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial report.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE HALF-YEAR FINANCIAL REPORT

Reporting Entity

Frontier Capital Group Limited (the "**Company**") is a company domiciled in Australia. The consolidated financial report of the Company as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2017 comprises the Company and its controlled entities (together referred to as the "**consolidated entity**").

Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with AASB 134: *Interim Financial Reporting* and the *Corporations Act 2001*.

Estimates

The preparation of the financial report requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of Preparation

This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the *Corporation Act 2001*.

Statement of Compliance

Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB's) ensures that the financial report of Frontier Capital Group Limited also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

Critical accounting estimates

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Options valuation

Estimates and assumptions used to calculate the valuation of options.

Historical cost convention

These financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on the historical cost convention except where noted in these accounting policies.

Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(b) **Principles of consolidation**

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Frontier Capital Group Limited (the "parent entity") as at report date and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Frontier Capital Group Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the Group.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from the entity's activities generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. The financial performance of those activities is included only for the period of the year that they were controlled.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between consolidated entity companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint Ventures

Interest in joint venture entities are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the proportionate consolidation method and are carried at cost by the parent entity. Under the proportionate consolidated method, the share of income and expenses of the jointly controlled entity is combined line by line with similar items in the consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income and the share of assets and liabilities are recognised in the consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Business Combination

Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses.

A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination involving entities or business under common control. The business combination will be accounted for from the date that control is attained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed is recognised (subject to certain limited exemptions).

When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, any asset or liability resulting from a contingent arrangement is also included, subsequent to initial recognition, contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is remeasured in each reporting period to fair value, recognising any change to fair value in profit or loss, unless the change in value can be identified as existing at acquisition date.

All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations are recognised as expenses in profit or loss when incurred.

The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill

Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the sum of:

- i. The consideration transferred;
- ii. Any non-controlling interest; and
- iii. The acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity for a business combination plus the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity holdings shall form the cost of the investment in the separate financial statements.

The acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for a business combination plus the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity holdings shall form the cost of the investment in the separate financial statements.

Fair value remeasurements in any pre-existing equity holding are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Where changes in the value of such equity holdings had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income, such amounts are recycled to profit or loss.

The amount of goodwill recognised on acquisition of each subsidiary in which the Group holds less than a 100% interest will depend on the method adopted in measuring the non-controlling interest. The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisitions of subsidiaries by the Group.

Under the full goodwill method, the fair value of the non-controlling interests is determined using valuation techniques which make the maximum use of market information where available. Under this method, goodwill attributable to the non-controlling interests is recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of associates is included in investments in associates.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and is allocated to the Group's cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units, representing the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored not larger than an operating segment. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill related to the entity disposal of.

Changes in the ownership interests in a subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions and do not affect the carrying amounts of goodwill.

(c) Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and returns that are different to those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment and is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments. Reporting to management by segments is on this basis.

(d) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Interest Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset.

Other Income

Income from other sources is recognised when proceeds or the fee in respect of other products or service provided is receivable. All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(e) Income Tax

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based on the income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.

The Company and its wholly owned entities are part of a tax-consolidated group under Australian taxation law. Frontier Capital Group is the head entity in the tax-consolidated group. Tax expense/income, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of the tax-consolidated group using the 'separate taxpayer within group' approach. Current tax liabilities and assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits of the members of the tax-consolidated group are recognised by the Company (as head entity in the tax-consolidated group).

The amounts receivable/payable under tax funding arrangements are due upon notification by the entity which is issued soon after the end of each financial year. Interim funding notices may also be issued by the head entity to its wholly owned subsidiary. These amounts are recognised as current intercompany receivables or payables.

(f) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

- where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
- receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis except for the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, and are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(g) Impairment of assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting period. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at call deposits with banks or financial institutions, and investment in money market instruments maturing within less than three months, net of bank overdrafts.

(i) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at original invoice amounts and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for doubtful debts. Trade receivables are due for settlement no more than 60 days from the date of recognition.

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that entities in the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables.

(j) Financial Instruments

Recognition and Initial Measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is equivalent to the date that the company commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the instrument is classified 'at fair value through profit or loss', in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Finance instruments are subsequently measured at either of fair value, amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, or cost. Fair value represents the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted.

Amortised cost is calculated as:

- (a) the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition;
- (b) less principal repayments;
- (c) plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of the difference, if any, between the amount initially recognised and the maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method; and
- (d) less any reduction for impairment.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period and is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying value with a consequential recognition of an income or expense in profit or loss.

The Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture entities as being subject to the requirements of accounting standards specifically applicable to financial instruments.

i. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified at 'fair value through profit or loss' when they are either held for trading for the purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a group of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value being included in profit or loss.

ii. Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Loans and receivables are included in current assets, except for those which are not expected to mature within 12 months after reporting date. (All other loans and receivables are classified as non-current assets.)

iii. Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable payments, and it is the Group's intention to hold these investments to maturity. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Held-to-maturity investments are included in non-current assets, except for those which are expected to mature within 12 months after reporting date. (All other investments are classified as current assets.)

If during the period the Group sold or reclassified more than an insignificant amount of the held-to-maturity investments before maturity, the entire held-to-maturity investments category would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale.

iv. Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either not suitable to be classified into other categories of financial assets due to their nature, or they are designated as such by management. They comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are included in non-current assets, except for those which are expected to be disposed of within 12 months after reporting date. (All other financial assets are classified as current assets.)

v. Financial liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Fair value

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm's length transactions, and reference to similar instruments and option pricing models.

Impairment

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether impairment has arisen. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive income.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are either discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying value of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

(k) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services which are unpaid, and were provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(I) Employee Benefits

(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees' services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

(ii) Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. In determining the liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that the employee may satisfy vesting requirements. Those cash flows are discounted using market yields on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cash flows.

(m) Contributed Equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

(n) Share based payments

Ownership-based remuneration is provided to employees via an employee share option plan.

Share-based compensation is recognised as an expense in respect of the services received, measured on a fair value basis.

The fair value of the options at grant date is independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature of the option, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.

The fair value of the options granted excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. At each balance date, the Group revises its estimate of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. The employee benefit expense recognised each period takes into account the most recent estimate.

Upon the exercise of options, the balance of the share-based payments reserve relating to those options is transferred to share capital.

(o) Earnings per share (EPS)

Basic EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted for costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised as expenses; and other nondiscretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of potential ordinary shares; divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

(p) New Accounting Standards for Application

The AASB has issued new and amended accounting standards and interpretations that have mandatory application dates for future reporting periods. The Group has decided against early adoption of these standards. We have reviewed these standards and interpretations and there are none having any material effect.

3. REVENUE AND EXPENSES

Specific Items

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense/(benefit) includes the following revenues and expenses whose disclosure is relevant in explaining the performance of the consolidated entity:

	Consolidated	
	Half-year ended	Half-year ended
	Jun 2017	Jun 2016
	\$'000	\$'000
Revenue		
Gaming revenue	-	11,095
Room revenue	447	1,006
Sales of goods, F&B and others	1,138	1,479
	1,585	13,580

	Consolidated	
	Half-year ended Half-year ende	
	Jun 2017	Jun 2016
	\$'000	\$'000
Other income		
Interest income	-	32
Others	1,357	150
	1,357	182
Cost of providing services and administrative expenses		
Casino and cost of services	(551)	(8,284)
Employee and on costs	(143)	(1,266)
Director fee	-	(112)
Consulting and professional fee	(44)	(1,615)
Other expenses	(1,143)	(1,095)
	(1,881)	(12,372)

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

	Consolidated		
	Jun 2017 \$'000	Dec 2016 \$'000	
Cash at bank and on deposit Cash held in trust	868	2,161	
	868	2,161	

5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

	Consolidated	
	Jun 2017	Dec 2016
	\$'000	\$'000
Current		
Receivables - trade	9,746	5,893
Provision for doubtful debt	(9,168)	(5 <i>,</i> 893)
Deposit – Mongolian Lottery	1,336	1,100
Provision for non-recovery – Mongolian Lottery	-	(1,100)
Receivable – Non-trade	-	2,431
Provision for doubtful debt	-	(2,431)
Advance to officers and employees	338	1,586
Advance to Director – Malaysian operation	-	31
Provision for doubtful debt	(338)	(1,585)
Receivables - advance to other party	138	137
Provision for non-recovery	(138)	(137)
Receivables - other	2	33
	1,916	65
Non - Current		
Receivables – security deposit and advanced rental	334	342
-	334	342

6. BUILDING, FURNITURE AND EQUIPMENT

	Consolidated	
	Jun 2017 Dec 202	
	\$'000	\$'000
Building, furniture, fixtures and equipment	12,250	12,096
Total carrying value	12,250	12,096

7. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

	Consolidated	
	Jun 2017	Dec 2016
	\$'000	\$'000
Current		
Trade payables	6,281	6,267
Other payables	269	318
	6,550	6,585
Non-Current		
Deposit for furniture stock subscriptions	3,818	3,909
Other payables	66	17
	3,884	3,926

8. ISSUED CAPITAL

	Consolidated		Consolidated	
	Jun 2017 Dec 2016		Jun 2017	Dec 2016
	No. of shares	No. of shares	\$	\$
Ordinary shares Issued	276,290,000	276,290,000	59,870,455	59,870,455

(a) Movements in ordinary share capital during the period:

Consolidated Details	Jun 2017 No. of shares	Dec 2016 No. of shares	Jun 2017 \$	Dec 2016 \$
Opening Balance	276,290,000	87,800,000	59,870,455	16,494,401
Share issued	-	154,050,000	-	36,617,685
Share issued	-	28,440,000	-	6,760,188
Debt conversion				
In lieu of services	-	6,000,000	-	1,426,200
Share issuing costs	-	-	-	(1,428,019)
Closing Balance	276,290,000	276,290,000	59,870,455	59,870,455

(b) Options

No option issued or granted over unissued shares during the reporting period.

(c) Terms and Conditions

Each ordinary share participates equally in the voting rights of the Company. Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.

(d) Performance options

No other performance option is granted or exercised during the year.

9. COMMITMENTS

	Consolidated	
	Jun 2017	Dec 2016
	\$'000	\$'000
Remuneration expenditure commitments		
Salary and other remuneration commitments under long- term employment contracts existing at reporting date not recognized as liabilities:		
Within one year	97	97
Later than one year but not later than 5 years	388	388
Later than 5 years	-	-
	485	485

Services agreements

The company has entered into a Corporate service agreement with Hudson Asset Management Pty Limited pursuant to which Hudson Asset Management Pty Limited has agreed to provide its management, registered office, administrative accounting, secretarial and compliance services.

The term of the Corporate Services Agreement is two years and the fee payable is that amount agreed between the parties from time to time. The terms of the Corporate Service Agreement provide that Hudson Asset Management Pty Limited shall act in accordance with the directors of the Board.

There are no other material commitments as at the date of this report.

10. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There are no other material contingent liabilities as at the date of this report. No material losses are anticipated in respect of any of the above contingent liabilities.

11. SEGMENT REPORTING

Business segments

The consolidated entity is organised into the following divisions by location and service type:

• Gaming and hospitality in Philippines

Operating Hotel Stotsenberg and Casablanca Casino business

• 3D Multimedia Operations

3D Visual communication and multimedia support for property developers operating in Malaysia.

	Gaming and hospitality in Philippines	3D Multimedia Operations	Investment Services	Unallocated/ eliminated	Consolidated
	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000	\$'000
Primary reporting business segments Half Year 2017					
Total segment revenue	928	657	-	-	1,585
Segment result Profit/(loss) from operations before income tax expense	(212)	48	-	1,223	1,059
Primary reporting business segments Half Year 2016					
Total segment revenue	12,906	674	-	-	13,580
Segment result Profit/(loss) from					
operations before income tax expense	1,881	155	(10,722)	-	(8,686)

12. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE

On 11 March 2019, the Company received A\$1,336,310, representing the return of the balance of the deposit paid for the acquisition of the Mongolian National Lottery.

The Agreement to acquire the Mongolian National Lottery is now terminated.

During and subsequent to the reporting period, the Company has actively worked towards securing the reopening of the Casablanca Casino owned by its subsidiary, Stotsenberg Leisure Park and Hotel Corporation, in Clark, Philippines. On 5 October 2018, the Philippines Amusement and Gaming Corporation (PAGCOR) approved the recommencement of operations for Casablanca Casino, subject to general conditions and the deposit for the PAGCOR Escrow Account.

On 1 November 2018 the Company has secured a US\$10,000,000 (American Dollars Ten Million) unsecured loan, with no fixed term and a coupon rate of 15% per annum, - to meet the requirements of PAGCOR for the Escrow Account, Performance Assurance and Surety Bonds to enable recommencement of the casino operations. The loan is not from a party, associated or related to the Company.

The Company is now in full compliance and is preparing the Casablanca Casino for reopening. The Stotsenberg Leisure Park Hotel has been operating throughout the period.

At the date of this report there are no other matters or circumstances, which have arisen since 30 June 2017 that have significantly affected or may significantly affect:

- the operations, in the financial half-year subsequent to 30 June 2017, of the consolidated entity;
- the results of those operations; or
- the state of affairs, in the financial half-year subsequent to 30 June 2017, of the consolidated entity.

SUPPLEMENTARY APPENDIX 4D INFORMATION

NTA Backing

	30.06.2017	31.12.2016
Net tangible asset backing per ordinary share	1.83 cents	1.54 cents

Controlled Entities Acquired

No entities was acquired during the reporting period.

Loss of Control of Entities during the Period

No entities have been disposed during the reporting period.

Subsequent Events

There have been no other events subsequent to reporting date which affects the results contained in this report or the continuing operations of the Company. Please refer to Note 10 to the financial statements.

Accounting Standards

Australian Accounting Standards have been used in the preparation of this report.

Other Significant Information

All significant information in relation to the financial performance and position of Hudson Investment Group Limited has been disclosed in the attached report.

Returns to Shareholders

No distribution/dividend paid this year. The company does not have a dividend/distribution reinvestment plan.

Associated and Joint Venture Entities

None during the reporting period.

Audit Alert

The Auditor's Review Report is included in the financial statements.